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District of Columbia 
Office of the State Superintendent of Education 

Office of Dispute Resolution 
1050 First Street, NE, 2nd Floor, Washington, DC  20002 

(202) 698-3819   www.osse.dc.gov
_________________________________________________________________     
Parent, on behalf of Student,1 ) 
Petitioner, ) 

) Hearing: April 3, 2019 
v. ) Date: April 25, 2019  

) Hearing Officer: Michael Lazan 
)  Case No.: 2019-0065 

School X Public Charter School, ) 
Respondent.  )__ __ __ 

HEARING OFFICER DETERMINATION 

I. Introduction

This is a case involving an X-year-old student who is currently eligible for 

services as a student with Emotional Disturbance (the “Student”).     

           A Due Process Complaint (“Complaint”) was received by School A Public 

Charter School (“School A PCS” or “Respondent”) pursuant to the Individuals with 

Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”) on March 8, 2019.  The Complaint was filed by the 

Student’s parent (“Petitioner”).  On March 19, 2019, Respondent filed a response.  The 

resolution period expired on March 15, 2019, since the timelines for this case are 

established pursuant to 34 CFR Sect. 300.532(c).     

II. Subject Matter Jurisdiction

This due process hearing was held, and a decision in this matter is being rendered, 

pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (“IDEIA”), 20 

U.S.C. Sect. 1400 et seq., its implementing regulations, 34 C.F.R. Sect. 300 et seq., Title 

1 Personally identifiable information is attached as Appendix A and must be removed prior to public 
distribution. 
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38 of the D.C. Code, Subtitle VII, Chapter 25, and the District of Columbia Municipal 

Regulations, Title 5-E, Chapter 30. 

III.  Procedural History 
 

 On March 20, 2019, this Hearing Officer held a prehearing conference.  Attorney 

A, Esq., and Attorney C, Esq., counsel for Petitioner, appeared.  Attorney B, Esq., 

counsel for Respondent, appeared.  A prehearing conference order was issued on March 

27, 2019, summarizing the rules to be applied in the hearing and identifying the issues in 

the case.  The Hearing Officer Determination was due on April 25, 2019, which is ten 

school days after the hearing date, accounting for holidays and the spring break vacation 

at Respondent.  

 There was one hearing date: April 3, 2019.  This was a closed proceeding.  

Petitioner was represented by Attorney A, Esq., and Attorney C, Esq.  Respondent was 

represented by Attorney B, Esq.  Petitioner moved into evidence Exhibits 1-21.  There 

was an objection to Exhibit 14, which was excluded.  Exhibits 1-13 and 15-21 were 

admitted.  Respondent moved into evidence Exhibits 1-21 and 23-28.  There were no 

objections.  Exhibits 1-21 and 23-28 were admitted.     

 After the hearing on April 3, 2019, the parties agreed to present written closing 

statements, which were provided to this Hearing Officer on April 17, 2019, and again on 

April 19, 2019.  Petitioner presented as witnesses: Petitioner and Witness B, an advocate.  

Respondent presented as witnesses: Witness C, a psychologist; Witness D, a social 

worker; and Witness A, a compliance officer.   
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IV.  Issue 

 As identified in the Prehearing Conference Summary and Order and in the Due 

Process Complaint, the Free and Appropriate Public Education (“FAPE”) issue to be 

determined in this case is as follows: 

 Did Respondent fail to determine that the Student’s behavior on February 8, 2019, 

was a manifestation of his/her disability in the Manifestation Determination Review 

(“MDR”) meeting on February 13, 2019?  If so, did Respondent violate the provisions of 

34 CFR Sect. 300.530(e) and related provisions?  If so, did Respondent deny the Student 

a FAPE?    

 As relief, Petitioner is seeking compensatory education or a compensatory 

education study, a reversal of the manifestation determination, and related remedies. 

V.  Findings of Fact 

 1. The Student is an X-year-old who is eligible for services as a student with 

Emotional Disturbance.  The Student has a history of physical and verbal aggression and 

insubordination to school staff, is often tardy, has poor attendance, and does not regularly 

complete school work.  The Student tends to get angry quickly and will go through 

periods of sadness.  The Student also tends to lose interest in most activities.  P-1-4. 

 2. The Student attended a school operated by District of Columbia Public 

Schools for the 2017-2018 school year, during which the Student got into legal trouble.   

In or about January, 2018, the Student was evaluated by a psychologist through an order 

from a judge in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia.  Testing revealed that the 

Student had a full-scale IQ of 73 on the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children-V, in 

the “very low” range.  The Student’s educational achievement testing scores, as measured 
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by the Woodcock-Johnson Test of Achievement-IV, indicated that s/he was at the fourth 

percentile in broad reading, eighth percentile in broad mathematics, and tenth percentile 

in broad written language.  P-1-7; P-1-10-11. 

 3. The evaluation from the court-ordered psychologist also determined that 

the Student had Disruptive Mood Dysregulation Disorder (“DMDD”), which has, as an 

“essential feature,” chronic, severe, persistent irritability and low frustration tolerance.  

The evaluator determined that the Student’s irritability and lack of frustration tolerance 

made it hard for the Student to establish peer relationships, and made the Student more 

isolated.  The evaluator stated that the Student may receive negative reactions from peers 

when s/he is angry or irritated.  The evaluator also stated that the Student becomes easily 

frustrated in response to stressors that would be tolerable by other adolescents his/her 

age, which precipitates verbal and physical temper outbursts.  P-1. 

4. Also in January, 2018, a psychiatric evaluation of the Student was 

conducted pursuant to an order from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia.  The 

psychiatrist found that the Student has anger issues and is frequently irritated.  The 

psychiatrist provided a diagnostic impression of the Student as having Unspecified 

Bipolar and Related Disorder.  P-2-7.  

5. An eligibility meeting was held for the Student in March, 2018.  The 

Student was deemed eligible as a student with Emotional Disturbance because s/he had 

poor concentration, poor impulse control, made poor decisions at times, and was 

oppositional and confrontational with adults.  R-4-1. 

 6. During the 2018-2019 school year, the Student has attended School A 

PCS, where the Student has persistently misbehaved.  For instance, on October 29, 2018, 



5 

the Student told another student s/he would “smack the shit out of her.”  On November 

16, 2018, the Student told a teacher to “shut the fuck up” and said s/he would “smoke 

him” and “blow him up.”  The Student also asked for the teacher’s home address.  On 

November 30, 2018, the Student, talking about a teacher, used the word “faggot.”  On 

February 6, 2019, the Student started to take out his/her phone and record a video of a 

teacher while being redirected by that teacher.  The Student then proceeded to comment 

on the teacher’s physical appearance and said he was not a “real man.”  Earlier in the day, 

the Student had threatened the teacher.  On February 7, 2018, the Student refused to take 

off his/her hoodie, refused to do any work in a class, and was accused of putting hand 

sanitizer on another student.  P-8-4-9.   

7. The Student‘s Individualized Education Program (“IEP”) dated December 

19, 2018, determined that the Student was eligible for services as a student with 

Emotional Disturbance and stated that the Student has a history of poor social skills, 

distractibility, and mood dysregulation.  It indicated that the Student’s overall behavior is 

disruptive on most days during at least once class period, that the Student has exhibited 

instances of verbal aggression toward students and staff in the building, and that the 

Student has six pages of documented offenses.  It indicated that the Student has difficulty 

regulating emotions and controlling impulses, and that s/he meets the criteria for DMDD.  

The IEP contains goals in reading, mathematics, written expression, and emotional, 

social, and behavioral development, and recommended ten hours per week of specialized 

instruction outside general education, with 180 minutes per month of behavioral support 

services: 120 minutes outside general education, and sixty minutes inside general 

education.  P-5. 
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8. A Functional Behavior Assessment (“FBA”) was created for the Student 

by Respondent’s staff approximately near the time of the December, 2018, IEP meeting.  

The FBA indicated that the Student relates poorly to others and has negative behaviors in 

school that disrupt instruction to him/herself and others, including inappropriate 

language, verbal aggression, verbal threats to harm staff, disrespect, class avoidance, and 

tardiness.  The behaviors especially manifested themselves when staff attempted to 

redirect him/her, and the Student’s behaviors were motivated at least in part by task 

avoidance.  P-6-4.  

9. A Behavior Intervention Plan (“BIP”) was written for the Student by 

Respondent’s staff on or about January 11, 2019.  The BIP directed teachers to use an 

emotionally flat manner, to avoid getting into a power struggle with the Student, to allow 

the Student to take breaks, to give the Student choices, to engage in role modeling for the 

Student, and to give the Student frequent praise.  P-7-1. 

 10. On February 8, 2019, the Student and two other students, Student A and 

Student B, were in the hallway, walking to the gym.  The Student and Student B wanted 

to take Student A’s photograph, but Student A did not want them to do this.  The students 

then got physical with each other.  The Student and Student B ended up, at the very least, 

grabbing Student A and taking off Student A’s shoes.  Testimony of Witness A; 

Testimony of Witness B; P-13; P-14; P-15.     

11. After this incident, Student A met Principal X of Respondent.  Student A 

was not wearing shoes.  Student A told the principal that the Student and another student 

had taken his/her shoes off after s/he refused to allow his/her photo to be taken.  Student 

A said that both the Student and Student B then acted aggressively toward him/her and 
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started punching him/her, first lightly, then harder.  Either the Student or Student B then 

took off Student A’s shoes, while the other held Student A down.  P-10-1.  

12. On February 8, 2019, Student A wrote a statement indicating that the 

Student and Student B said that they were going to “jump him/her” if s/he did not allow 

them to take his/her photograph.  When Student A would not allow them to take the 

photograph, they started throwing punches, and either the Student or Student B then said, 

“grab his/her legs.”  According to the statement, both the Student and Student B grabbed 

Student A’s legs while s/he was falling to the floor.  Student A then grabbed either the 

Student or Student B by the head, while the other pulled Student A’s shoes off his/her 

feet.  Once the Student and Student B got the shoes, they said that Student A “can go” to 

lunch.  P-11-1. 

 13. On February 11, 2019, the Student returned to Respondent’s school.  The 

Student was told to go to the special education suite, where staff would support him/her 

until the matter was resolved.  The Student refused to go to the suite and left the building.  

Testimony of Witness A.  

  14. On February 13, 2019, an MDR meeting occurred.  The members of the 

team reviewed the incident report from Principal X, the statement from Student A, and 

the Student’s most recent psychological and psychiatric evaluations.  The team also 

reviewed the Student’s FBA, BIP, and records relating to a prior suspension.  The team 

also reviewed a video of the incident, which did not clearly show what had happened.  

The team members also heard from the Student, who was present at the meeting.  The 

Student said that s/he was playing around during the incident on February 8, 2019.  

Petitioner asked why Student A was not at the meeting.  Witness A indicated that the 



8 

school was considering expelling the Student.  Testimony of Witness C; Testimony of 

Witness A; P-15.  

  15. Five of the eight members of the MDR team voted that the Student’s 

conduct during the incident of February 8, 2019, was not a manifestation of his/her 

disability: Witness C, the school psychologist; Ms. B, a Local Education Agency 

(“LEA”) representative; Ms. C, a teacher; Witness A, a compliance officer, and Ms. D, a 

special education teacher.  Petitioner abstained from the voting.  Witness B, the Student, 

and the temporary behavior support specialist at the school, Ms. A, voted that the 

Student’s conduct was a manifestation of his/her disability.  At the MDR meeting, the 

team also talked about providing the Student with tutoring and additional behavior 

support services, as well as monitoring the Student’s BIP.  Witness A indicated at the end 

of the meeting that he would inform Principal X of the results of the meeting.  P-15.  

 16. On February 14, 2019, the Student went to school and was sent home with 

work, a suspension letter, and a letter recommending that s/he be expelled from school as 

a result of the incident on February 8, 2019.  In the letter, the Principal X characterized 

the incident as an attempted theft, using force, coercion, intimidation, or threat of 

violence, a “Level IV” offense.  P-16. 

17. During the Student’s suspension from school, Respondent offered the 

Student approximately two ninety-minute tutoring sessions for the first week of 

suspension and approximately three ninety-minute tutoring sessions for the remaining 

week(s) of suspension.  The Student was also provided with access to an online platform 

and an opportunity to meet with a teacher to go over the work s/he was doing on the 

online portal.  Testimony of Witness A.  
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18. On March 1, 2019, an expulsion hearing occurred.  On March 4, 2019, 

Respondent sent Petitioner a letter stating that the school was not going to expel the 

Student, based upon a review of notes from the MDR meeting and the evidence produced 

at the expulsion hearing.  The Student’s suspension lasted approximately twelve days, 

after which a re-entry meeting was held on March 6, 2019.  At this meeting, Respondent 

proposed a dedicated aide for transitions and class support, transportation, makeup 

behavior support services for services the Student missed prior to the suspension, breaks 

for the Student, and a tutoring session.  P-18.  

19. A Prior Written Notice from Respondent dated March 27, 2019, proposed 

makeup behavior services and tutoring support services to compensate the Student for 

time missed during his/her suspension, namely 1.5 hours of behavioral support services 

after school every week in April, 2019, and fifteen hours of tutoring.  R-24-1.             

VI.  Conclusions of Law 

 Based upon the above Findings of Fact, the arguments of counsel, and this 

Hearing Officer’s own legal research, the Conclusions of Law of this Hearing Officer are 

as follows: 

 The burden of proof in District of Columbia special education cases was changed 

by the local legislature through the District of Columbia Special Education Student 

Rights Act of 2014.  That burden is expressed in statute as the following: 

Where there is a dispute about the appropriateness of the child’s 
individual educational program or placement, or of the program 
or placement proposed by the public agency, the public agency 
shall hold the burden of persuasion on the appropriateness of the 
existing or proposed program or placement; provided, that the 
party requesting the due process hearing shall retain the burden of 
production and shall establish a prima facie case before the 
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burden of persuasion falls on the public agency. The burden of 
persuasion shall be met by a preponderance of the evidence. 
 

 See D.C. Code § 38-2571.03(6)(A)(i). 
 

 Since the issue in this case does not directly involve the Student’s existing IEP or 

program, the burden of persuasion lies with Petitioner in this case.  Shaffer v. Weast, 546 

U.S. 49 (2005).  

 Did Respondent fail to determine that the Student’s behavior on February 8, 
2019, was a manifestation of his/her disability in the MDR meeting on February 13, 
2019?  If so, did Respondent violate the provisions of 34 CFR Sect. 300.530(e) and 
related provisions?  If so, did Respondent deny the Student a FAPE?    
 

Respondent contended that the February 13, 2019, MDR decision was correct, 

and that the Student’s February 8, 2019, behaviors were not a product of his/her disability 

but were merely “horseplay.”  Respondent suggested that this kind of “horseplay” was 

not a product of anger, did not involve sufficient aggression, and was not a function of 

the Student’s disorder, which is DDMD.    

Witness A testified at the hearing that mere “horseplay” could not result in a 

Student’s expulsion.  But just after the MDR meeting, Witness A reported the results of 

the meeting to Principal X.  Principal X proceeded to recommend expulsion for the 

Student in a correspondence written the next day.  Principal X concluded that the 

Student’s offense was “attempted theft using force, coercion, intimidation or threat of 

violence.”  This charge resulted in a formal expulsion hearing on March 1, 2019.  There 

was no mention of anything resembling “horseplay” in the letter of Principal X on 

February 14, 2019, and Respondent did not call Principal X as a witness to explain why 

the Student was recommended for expulsion if the MDR team genuinely believed that the 

Student’s actions were “horseplay.”         



11 

In fact, Principal X was right to be concerned about the incident on February 8, 

2019, which was one of many incidents during the school year involving the Student’s 

outrageous behavior.  The most credible evidence before the MDR team on February 13, 

2019, made it clear that the Student’s conduct on February 8, 2019, should not have been 

deemed “horseplay.”  Just after the incident, Student A wrote a statement that described 

the incident as an assault.  Student A wrote that, after s/he refused to allow his/her 

photograph to be taken, the Student and Student B said that they were going to “jump 

him/her” if s/he did not allow them to take his/her photo.  Then the Student and Student B 

started throwing punches at Student A, and both the Student and Student B grabbed 

Student A’s legs while s/he was falling to the floor.  Student A then grabbed either the 

Student or Student B by the head, while the other pulled Student A’s shoes off his/her 

feet.  Student A, wearing no shoes, then reported the incident to Principal X.   

Student A said nothing to the principal about this incident being mild “horseplay.”   

According to Principal X’s incident report, Student A told the principal that the Student 

and another student had taken his/her shoes off after s/he refused to allow his/her photo to 

be taken.  Student A also told Principal X that both the Student and Student B acted 

aggressively toward him/her and started punching him/her, first lightly, then harder.  

Student A also told Principal X that either the Student or Student B then took off Student 

A’s shoes, while the other held Student A down.   

It would have been appropriate for the MDR team to hear from Student A at the 

MDR meeting if it genuinely had reason to disbelieve his/her statement.  However, the 

MDR team did not ask him/her to come to the meeting because of privacy concerns for 

Student A, even though the audio recording of the meeting (P-13) suggests that Student A 
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could have appeared at the MDR meeting if his/her parent had been contacted and had 

given him/her permission to appear.     

Instead, Respondent relied on the oral statements of the Student and Petitioner to 

the effect that the incident constituted “horseplay,” leading the permanent school staff to 

conclude that the incident was not “malicious” and “aggressive.”  Having listened to the 

audio recording of the meeting, this Hearing Officer did not find the oral statement of the 

Student at the MDR, to the effect that s/he was “playing” with a “friend” during the 

incident, to be convincing.  It is clear from the audio that the Student and Petitioner were 

trying to downplay the incident at the MDR meeting, very likely because they were 

concerned about the Student’s possible expulsion (and they did not completely 

understand that downplaying the incident might not work to their advantage).   

Even so, the Student never specifically denied the assertions contained in the 

statement of Student A, which was read to the Student at the MDR meeting.  Moreover, 

the Student ended up voting that his/her behavior was a manifestation of his/her 

disability, and Petitioner indicated that the incident reflected aggressive behavior by the 

Student.  Also voting that the behavior was a manifestation of the Student’s disability 

was the school social worker, who was not a permanent staff member at Respondent.   

Respondent further argued that the incident of February 8, 2019, was not a 

manifestation of the Student’s DMDD, pointing to the evaluation of the court-appointed 

psychologist from January, 2018.  This evaluation states that the essential feature of 

DMDD is “chronic, severe irritability,” which manifests itself in a persistently angry 

mood punctuated by behavior outbursts which are expressed in the form of aggression 

against property and others.  Given the credible evidence before the MDR team, it is fair 
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to characterize the Student’s actions on February 8, 2019, as aggression against Student 

A.  Additionally, it is fair to characterize the Student as being “irritated” when Student A 

refused to allow him/herself to be photographed.  While the incident may not have been 

an “outburst” as that word is typically used, the evaluation does not state that all of the 

Student’s DMDD-related actions require a sudden explosive behavior.  Moreover, the 

evaluator was not called as a witness to establish that the incident of February 8, 2019, 

was not a manifestation of the Student’s disability.       

 Instead of parsing the statements in the court-ordered evaluation, the MDR team 

should have focused on the documents it compiled to describe the Student’s emotional 

disturbance.  The Student’s FBA states that the Student relates poorly to others and has 

negative behaviors in the school setting that disrupt instruction to others.  The reports of 

the Student’s behavioral incidents during the school year also contain references to 

aggressive altercations with peers.  On August 29, 2018, the Student threw a pencil at 

another student, and on October 29, 2018, the Student told another student s/he would 

“smack the shit out of her.”  Particularly relevant is the document reflecting the Student’s 

the most recent eligibility meeting in May, 2018, where the eligibility team determined 

that the Student was eligible for services as a student with Emotional Disturbance.  At 

this meeting, the eligibility team described how the Student’s emotional disturbance 

affected the Student’s education performance.  The Final Eligibility Determination 

Report states that the Student has “poor impulse control” and “makes poor decisions at 

times.”  To this Hearing Officer, the Student’s behavior on February 8, 2019, should be 

considered either the product of a poor decision, the product of poor impulse control, or 

both.      
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 Respondent also argued that Petitioner should not be permitted to take one 

position at the MDR meeting, then another during this case.  While this is a relevant 

point, it is also true that uninformed parents are often not in a position to make 

appropriate judgments about their child’s education.  For this reason, the Office of 

Special Education Programs (“OSEP”) has determined that a parent’s assent to an 

inappropriate determination does not inoculate an LEA from liability.  See Letter to 

Lipsitt, 52 IDELR 47 (OSEP Letter December 11, 2008).  Moreover, Petitioner did not 

vote in sync with the permanent school staff on February 13, 2019.  Instead, Petitioner 

abstained from voting at the MDR meeting.    

 Respondent also pointed to the fact that Petitioner offered no expert testimony and 

relied mostly on documents from counsel, though two witnesses were in fact called.  

However, hearsay is admissible in special education hearings and, on some occasions, 

documents can be so persuasive that they themselves are enough to carry a Petitioner’s 

burden.  Respondent contended that the school district’s witnesses should be given 

deference, citing to the United States Supreme Court case in Endrew F. ex rel. Joseph F. 

v. Douglas Cty. Sch. Dist. RE-1, 137 S. Ct. 988, 992–93 (2017).  However, school 

officials must clearly and reasonably explain their testimony in order for that testimony to 

be credited in a legal proceeding.  As the Circuit Court of Appeals for the District of 

Columbia recently stated: “[a] reviewing court may fairly expect those authorities to be 

able to offer a cogent and responsive explanation for their decisions...”  Smith v. D.C., 

No. CV 16-1386 (RDM), 2018 WL 4680208, at *5 (D.D.C. Sept. 28, 2018).  

Respondent’s witnesses could not explain the February 14, 2019, letter from Principal X 

nor why they failed to credit Student A’s statement, and they could not admit to the 
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obvious on a number of occasions, such as when Witness C could not say that the Student 

overreacted to Student’s A’s refusal to have his/her photograph taken.  Respondent’s 

witnesses also failed to explain why they did not closely review the Student’s IEP, FBA, 

Final Eligibility Determination Report, or documents reflecting the Student’s behavioral 

history at the school, even though those documents describe the Student as a child who 

has difficulty relating to peers.2  It is noted that Respondent has now reversed the MDR 

determination, though Respondent’s witnesses said that the decision to reverse it was an 

attempt to manage this litigation rather than a concession that the MDR determination 

was wrong.     

  In sum, on February 8, 2019, the Student engaged in inappropriate physical 

aggression when s/he decided to, among other things, grab Student A and remove his/her 

shoes.  Since engaging in physical aggression is a manifestation of the Student’s 

emotional disturbance, Respondent inappropriately determined that the Student’s 

behavior on February, 8, 2019, was not a manifestation of his/her disability and therefore 

denied the Student a FAPE.   

REMEDY 
 

 Petitioner seeks a reversal of the MDR determination, an amendment of the 

Student’s attendance records to remove the absences due to suspension, and a review of 

the Student’s BIP.  There is no dispute that this relief has already been granted to 

Petitioner.  The MDR determination has already been reversed, the Student’s attendance 

                                                 
2 The IEP states that “[the Student] has exhibited instances of verbal aggression toward students and staff in 
the building, when faced with situations that trigger his/her mood.”  The FBA states that “[the Student] 
exhibits negative behaviors in the classroom and school setting that disrupt instruction for him/herself and 
peers on a weekly basis.” 
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records have already been amended, and Respondent has agreed to revisit the BIP again 

at the end of the third quarter, an approach that is agreeable to Petitioner.  

 The only issue remaining is the issue of compensatory education.  Under the 

theory of compensatory education, courts and hearing officers may award “educational 

services to be provided prospectively to compensate for a past deficient program.”  Reid 

v. District of Columbia, 401 F.3d 516, 521-23 (D.C. Cir. 2005).  In every case, however, 

the inquiry must be fact-specific and, to accomplish IDEA’s purposes, the ultimate award 

must be reasonably calculated to provide the educational benefits that likely would have 

accrued from special education services the school district should have supplied in the 

first place.  Id., 401 F. 3d at 524; see also Friendship Edison Public Charter School v. 

Nesbitt, 532 F. Supp. 2d 121, 125 (D.D.C. 2008) (compensatory award must be based on 

a “‘qualitative, fact-intensive’ inquiry used to craft an award tailored to the unique needs 

of the disabled student”).      

Respondent alleged that Petitioner did not raise the issue of compensatory 

education in the Due Process Complaint, which is accurate.  But Petitioner did state that 

she was seeking compensatory education during the prehearing conference, as 

memorialized in the prehearing order in this case.  The prehearing order also states: 

(T)he parties and their representatives shall be held to the 
matters agreed upon or ordered.  If either party believes 
that this Hearing Officer has overlooked or misstated 
anything in this Order, he/she is directed to advise this 
Hearing Officer of the same within three business days of 
the date of this Prehearing Order (with a copy to opposing 
counsel).  The concern shall be addressed immediately. 
 

 Though Respondent urged Petitioner for more specifics regarding her 

compensatory education proposals, Respondent did not object to Petitioner raising the 
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issue of compensatory education at the prehearing conference.  Given the language in the 

prehearing order, it is incumbent upon this Hearing Officer to decide whether 

compensatory education is due the Student in this case, especially since at least some 

courts in the District of Columbia have ruled that compensatory education is due a 

student any time a student is denied a FAPE.  Brown v. Dist. of Columbia, 568 F. Supp. 

2d 44, 47 (D.D.C.2008) (citing Reid, 401 F.3d at 518); Friendship Edison Pub. Charter 

Sch. Collegiate Campus v. Nesbitt, 532 F. Supp. 2d 121, 125–26 (D.D.C.2008) (“[o]nce a 

plaintiff has established that she is entitled to an award, simply refusing to grant one 

clashes with Reid”); Henry v. D.C., 750 F. Supp. 2d 94, 98 (D.D.C. 2010) (same). 

    Respondent argued that the Student received services during the suspension, and 

that no social or emotional harm resulted from the suspension.  Respondent also pointed 

to testimony from Respondent’s witnesses to the effect that the Student had no 

difficulties transitioning back to school after the school suspension ended.  However, the 

Student did not receive instruction every day during the suspension and did not receive a 

full day’s worth of school programming during the days that s/he was able to access the 

instruction.  There is nothing in the record to clearly describe what services were actually 

provided, and no witness testified that the Student was able to learn a full twelve days of 

work during the tutoring sessions.  Compensatory education is therefore due the Student 

for the twelve days of school that s/he missed in February and March, 2019.    

 To that end, Respondent has offered the Student a compensatory education 

package: fifteen hours of tutoring plus an additional 1.5 hours of behavior support 

services every Thursday in April, 2019.  In her closing statement, Petitioner did not 
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clearly disagree with the appropriateness of this relief, leading Respondent to contend 

that this case should be dismissed as moot.  

 While Respondent’s argument is persuasive, and while Respondent did point to a 

number of hearing officer decisions in support of this position, courts in the District of 

Columbia hold that “a case becomes moot only when it is impossible for a court to grant 

any effectual relief whatever to the prevailing party.”  K.B. v. District Columbia, No. 13-

0649, 2015 WL 5191330, at *8 (D.D.C. Sept. 4, 2015) (quoting Chafin v. Chafin, 568 

U.S. 165, 133 S.Ct. 1017, 1023, 185 L.Ed.2d 1 (2013)).  Accordingly, in Davis v. D.C., 

No. CIV.A. 05-2176PLF/DA, 2006 WL 3917779, at *7–8 (D.D.C. Sept. 28, 2006), report 

and recommendation adopted sub nom. D.D. ex rel. Davis v. D.C., 470 F. Supp. 2d 1 

(D.D.C. 2007), a District of Columbia special education hearing officer dismissed a 

complaint on the basis of the determination that the LEA had offered the parents 

a settlement in full satisfaction of her complaint, and that she wrongly rejected it because 

the LEA did not agree to pay her attorneys' fees. The court reversed that hearing officer, 

holding that “the Hearing Officer erred in dismissing Plaintiff's complaint during the due 

process hearing for Plaintiff's failure to accept the offer made by Defendants.  The 

evidence shows that the Hearing Officer was incorrect in deciding that Defendants’ offer 

was in full satisfaction of Plaintiff’s claim, when the evidence shows that not all of 

Plaintiff's concerns, such as transportation and attorneys’ fees, were addressed.” 

Accordingly, this matter should not be dismissed.  Instead, this Hearing Officer 

will order the relief that was proposed by Respondent in the Prior Written Notice dated 

March 27, 2019, and in Respondent’s briefs.        
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VII.  Order 

 As a result of the foregoing, this Hearing Officer hereby orders that Respondent 

shall: 

 1. Provide the Student with fifteen hours of compensatory tutoring, and six 

hours of compensatory behavior support services;  

 2. Provide that the Student’s MDR determination of February 13, 2019, be 

reversed;  

 3. Provide that the Student’s attendance record be adjusted to reflect the 

change in the MDR decision;  

 4. Review and revise the Student’s behavior intervention plan at the end of 

the third term of the 2018-2019 school year.  

Dated: April 25, 2019 

                                Michael Lazan                                                                                       
          Impartial Hearing Officer 
 
      
cc: Office of Dispute Resolution  
 Petitioner’s Representative: Attorney A, Esq. 
 Respondent’s Representative: Attorney B, Esq. 
 OSSE Division of Specialized Education  
 Contact.resolution@dc.gov 
  
  

mailto:Contact.resolution@dc.gov
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VIII.  Notice of Appeal Rights 
 
 This is the final administrative decision in this matter.  Any party aggrieved by 

this Hearing Officer Determination may bring a civil action in any state court of 

competent jurisdiction or in a District Court of the United States without regard to the 

amount in controversy within ninety (90) days from the date of the Hearing Officer 

Determination in accordance with 20 USC §1415(i). 

Date: April 25, 2019 
    
              Michael Lazan 
                 Impartial Hearing Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
              
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 




